1994

# Lan C. England v. Eugene Horbach, an individual, Mediocode, Incorporated, a Utah corporation, and Does I through V: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this timely appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) and Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. *See* Addendum ("Add") 1.

### **ISSUES FOR REVIEW AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW.**

- I. Did the district court err in concluding that the 2% agreement did not constitute an accord and satisfaction of Eugene Horbach ("Defendant") and Lan England's ("Plaintiff") original agreement? Whether an accord and satisfaction exists presents a mixed question of law and fact. The court reviews underlying factual conclusions for clear error, and the application of the law to the facts under the correction of error standard. *See Herm Hughes & Sons, Inc. v. Quintek*, 834 P.2d 582, 583 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).
- II. Did the district court err in concluding that there was no consideration for Defendant's promise to hold 2% of the stock of Medicode, Inc. in trust for Plaintiff because the parties were mutually mistaken as to whether any amount was due Plaintiff? Whether there is consideration is a mixed question of law and fact. The court reviews underlying factual conclusions for clear error, and the application of the law to the facts under the correction of error standard. *See State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1269 (Utah 1993).
- III. Should the Defendant be estopped from denying his promise to hold 2% of the stock for Plaintiff? This question presents a mixed question of law and fact. *See Thurman*, 846 P.2d at 1269.

IV. Did the district court err in permitting Defendant to amend the pleadings to include a counterclaim at the close of evidence at trial? The standard of review on this issue is abuse of discretion. *See Westley v. Farmer's Ins. Exchange*, 663 P.2d 93, 94 (Utah 1983).

#### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES**

The following rule is pertinent to this appeal:

. . . [A] party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires.

Rule 15(a) U.R.C.P.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiff brought an action for breach of contract against the Defendant. Plaintiff alleged that Defendant had failed to transfer 2% of the stock of Medicode, Inc. to Plaintiff on demand as promised to conclude a stock purchase between the parties. *See* Record ("R.") 2-17; Add. 2-17. (Citations to "R" are citations to the original record; the "Add." cites refer to the page numbers of the Addendum.) At the end of trial, the Defendant moved to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence not specifically mentioning a counterclaim against the Plaintiff for alleged overpayments on the underlying stock purchase contract. The Court ruled no cause of action on Plaintiff's complaint and awarded Defendant \$169,501.75 on the counterclaim. Plaintiff appeals.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In late 1989 or early 1990, Defendant and Plaintiff reached an agreement whereby Defendant agreed to purchase 258,363 shares of Medicode stock from Plaintiff. (R. 488 lines 15,



489 lines 1-6, 490; Add. 56-58). The parties agreed that the purchase price for the shares was \$2.75 per share or \$710,498.25. (R. 256, ¶ 4, 488-89, 531; Add. 42, 56-57, 74). Plaintiff testified, and Defendant did not dispute, that the purchase money was to be paid within two to three months during the first quarter of 1990. (R. 490-91, 494, 506 line 25-507 line 5, 368-69; Add. 58-59, 62, 65-66, 74, 48-49). Over the next several months the Defendant made payments, but he failed to pay Plaintiff the purchase money within the time frame agreed. *Id.* Indeed, the testimony at trial indicated that payments were received through at least September 1990. (R. 256, ¶¶ 6-7; Add. 42). In May of 1991, Plaintiff and Defendant met to come to an agreement with respect to wrapping up the deal. (*Id.* at ¶ 10, R. 505-507, 372-73; Add. 64-66, 50-51, 42). Plaintiff still had possession of the stock and believed, in good faith, that Defendant owed him \$25,000.00. (R. 505-06, 517-18; Add. 64-65, 71-72). He also believed that Defendant had breached their original agreement by failing to pay for the stock within the period agreed. (R. 491-494, 504-07, 256 ¶ 11, 368-69, 373, 382-83; Add. 59-62, 63-66, 42, 48-49, 51, 52-53). At the May meeting, Plaintiff and Defendant reached an agreement whereby Defendant agreed to pay Plaintiff an additional \$25,000.00 and hold 2% of the stock of Medicode in trust for Plaintiff. (R. 15, 257-58, ¶ 12, 505-08; Add. 15, 43-44, 64-67). Plaintiff on the other hand, agreed to transfer the stock to Defendant immediately and gave up his rights to sue for breach of the original agreement. (R. 382-84, 517-19; Add. 52-54, 71-73). Both Plaintiff and Defendant agreed that Plaintiff would not have transferred the stock to Defendant if Defendant had not agreed to pay an additional \$25,000.00 and hold 2% of the stock for Plaintiff. (R. 584-85, 590; Add. 78-80). Moreover, both

parties testified that they both believed money was still owing under the original contract. (R. 577, 584; Add. 77-78).

In December 1992, Plaintiff made a demand for the 2% of Medicode stock. (R. 16-17, 512-13; Add. 16-17, 68-69). Defendant refused to honor the May 1991 agreement. R. 513-14; Add. 69-70. Despite the fact that Defendant admitted to executing the agreement (R. 584 lines 8-14; Add. 78), and the fact that the agreement states unequivocally that Defendant will hold 2% of the stock for Plaintiff, (R. 15; Add. 15), the district court ruled that Plaintiff could not enforce the agreement because no consideration supported it. (R. 438-42; Add. 85-89). The court held that at the time of the agreement the parties were under a mutual mistake that money was still owed on the original agreement. *Id.* The court dismissed Plaintiff's claim. The court committed legal error in dismissing Plaintiff's claim.

Adding insult to injury, the court also ruled that Defendant had overpaid the Plaintiff in the amount of \$169,501.75 for the stock and allowed Defendant to recover the money on a counterclaim that was raised during trial. The parties disputed the purpose for several of the payments from Defendant to Plaintiff. Plaintiff claimed that the amounts were for services rendered and were paid in connection with other deals that the parties had entered previously. The court found Plaintiff's claim for approximately \$169,501.75 in services was incredible because no documentation supported it. This, despite the fact that Plaintiff and Defendant had no documentation to support the original stock purchase transaction of \$700,000.00. Moreover, Plaintiff was not given ample, if any, opportunity to prepare his case on the overpayments due to Defendant's lack of diligence in "discovering" the evidence. Plaintiff has, since trial, located

documentary evidence that would substantiate his claims regarding the purpose for the disputed payments. Plaintiff was not able to locate this evidence prior to trial because Plaintiff failed to raise the prospect of a counterclaim or the defense of full payment until just prior to trial.

Plaintiff filed a complaint against Defendant on March 15, 1993. (R. 2-17; Add. 2-17). Plaintiff requested a jury trial in his complaint. *Id.* Defendant filed an answer on April 30, 1993. (R. 35-39; Add. 18-22). Defendant raised several defenses in his answer but never mentioned mutual mistake or lack of consideration as defenses. *Id.* Moreover, absolutely no mention was made of any potential counterclaim or off-set. *Id.* After several months, the court set a trial date in this matter for December 21, 1993. (R. 168; Add. 23). One week before trial, on December 14, 1993, Defendant filed a motion for a continuance of the trial date and for leave to file a counterclaim, claiming that he had discovered new evidence and needed time to develop the evidence. (R. 184-188; Add. 24-28). Defendant argued that the "new" evidence may give rise to a counterclaim. (R. 186; Add. 26). The court denied the motion because failure to discover the evidence earlier was due to lack of diligence on Defendant's part. (R. 199, 193-97; Add. 34, 29-33) (court indicated that the motion was denied for the reasons set forth in Plaintiff's brief in opposition, and Plaintiff argued that the failure to discover the evidence was due to lack of diligence on Defendant's part). Later, because a conflict arose in the court's schedule, the court postponed the trial until March 23, 1994. (R. 204; Add. 35). At or about the time that Defendant asked for the continuance, he argued for the first time, but never in formal pleadings, that he had paid Plaintiff in full under their original agreement. In his motion for a continuance, Defendant also asked the court for leave to amend his answer to include a counterclaim, and the court denied

the request. (R. 199; Add. 34). Due to the postponement of the trial, Plaintiff was made aware that Defendant intended to introduce evidence that he had paid Plaintiff in full in defense of Plaintiff's claim, and Plaintiff did not object to the defense being raised.

As the March 23rd trial date neared, once again Defendant began to "discover" new evidence. Defendant now claimed that he had recently discovered records revealing that he had substantially overpaid Plaintiff. Plaintiff maintained that the payments were related to other deals between the parties. Still Defendant indicated that he intended to introduce evidence of overpayment in response to Plaintiff's claim, but gave no indication that he intended to pursue a counterclaim to recover amounts allegedly overpaid.<sup>1</sup> Defendant filed a trial brief on March 22, 1994, the day before trial in this matter, in which he raised for the first time since the court's denial of his motion for a continuance and leave to file a counterclaim, any intention of pursuing a counterclaim to recover the alleged overpayments. (R. 229 & n. ¶ 13; Add. 38). Plaintiff filed a trial brief the day of trial, which did not address Defendant's counterclaim or any defenses thereto because Plaintiff did not know that Defendant intended to pursue a counterclaim until the day of trial when Defendant handed Plaintiff the trial brief.<sup>2</sup> (R. 232-39; Add., 890-97). The

---

<sup>1</sup> At the final pretrial conference, Horbach's attorneys indicated that he intended to introduce evidence of overpayment but gave no indication that they intended to bring a counterclaim to recover the alleged overpayments. England believed that the evidence would be introduced to support Horbach's defense of lack of consideration for the substitute agreement.

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiff was aware that Defendant intended to defend against the Plaintiff's claim by introducing evidence of overpayment and claiming thereby that he had paid the full purchase price of the stock prior to the execution of the substitute agreement and that no consideration supported the agreement. However, Plaintiff had absolutely no notice that Horbach intended to pursue a counterclaim to recover amounts allegedly overpaid. Horbach had given some indication in the weeks prior to the first trial date that he believed that he had overpaid England \$25,000.00. He asked for leave to file a counterclaim at that time which was denied. R. 199. No further mention

court will note that Plaintiff's Trial Brief addresses the law on all the issues before the Court, but does not mention any counterclaim.

Defendant admits that he raised his counterclaim for the first time in his trial brief and when he asked the court to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence at the close of the trial. *See* Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Appellee's Motion for Summary Disposition, at p. 3; Add. 83-84. Plaintiff did not consent to the amendment of the pleadings to include a counterclaim. Plaintiff was surprised and prejudiced by the court's allowing Defendant to pursue a counterclaim at trial. Despite the fact that Plaintiff had never been put on notice that Defendant intended to pursue a counterclaim, the court permitted Defendant's requested amendment at the close of evidence and awarded the Defendant \$169,501.75 on the counterclaim. The court abused its discretion in allowing the counterclaim to be brought.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court erred in concluding that because the parties were mistaken about the amount and whether money was due Plaintiff that no consideration supported the May 23, 1991 agreement. Courts have held that settlement of a bona fide dispute is consideration, even if the dispute is not well-founded.

At the May 23, 1991 meeting, Plaintiff believed in good faith that he was still owed money and that defendant had failed to pay for the stock as agreed. Defendant wanted to secure

---

was made of a counterclaim until Horbach filed his trial brief the day before trial. The week of trial Horbach indicated that "new evidence" revealed that the amount he had overpaid England was \$300,000.00. At trial, Horbach recovered about \$170,000.00 on his counterclaim. Plaintiff was barely given an opportunity to hear of Defendant's claims before trial much less an opportunity to prepare to meet them.

immediate delivery of the stock. Accordingly, the parties entered an accord and satisfaction in which Defendant agreed to pay \$25,000.00 and hold 2% of the Medicode stock in trust for Plaintiff, and Plaintiff agreed to immediate delivery of the stock and gave up his rights to rescind or sue for breach. The fact that Plaintiff's belief may have been mistaken does not mean that no consideration supported Defendant's promise. Defendant's promise was supported by consideration and should be enforced.

Even if the Court were to conclude that no consideration supported Defendant's promise, the Court should rule that Defendant is estopped from denying it. Defendant made a promise to induce action on Plaintiff's part; Plaintiff reasonably relied on the promise, to his detriment. Defendant got what he wanted from his promise--the immediately delivery of the stock--and should be forced to honor his promise.

Finally, the trial court abused its discretion by amending the pleadings to include a counterclaim raised at trial. While amendment of the pleadings are generally liberally permitted, amendments to include new or different causes of action are highly disfavored. Defendant gave no good reason for failing to bring the counterclaim earlier, and Plaintiff, surprised and prejudiced by the claim, was given no time to prepare to meet it, and did not consent to it. Accordingly, the court abused its discretion by permitting the Defendant to pursue a counterclaim.

### ARGUMENT

The questions of whether there was consideration for the May 1991 agreement, and whether the parties entered into an accord and satisfaction present mixed questions of law and fact. The court must accept the findings of fact unless clearly erroneous, but reviews the application of the law to the facts for legal error. *See State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1269

(Utah 1993); *Herm Hughes & Sons, Inc. v. Quintek*, 834 P.2d 582, 583 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

The facts of this case reveal that the trial court erred in concluding that there was no accord and satisfaction because there was no consideration to support the May 1991 agreement.

I. BECAUSE CONSIDERATION SUPPORTED DEFENDANT'S PROMISE, THE COURT SHOULD HAVE FOUND AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION.

"An accord and satisfaction arises when the parties to a contract mutually agree that a performance different than that required by the original contract will be made in substitution of the performance originally agreed upon and that the substituted agreement calling for a different performance will discharge the obligation created under the original agreement." *Neiderhauser Builders v. Campbell*, 824 P.2d 1193, 1197 (Utah App. 1992). Compromise of a bona fide dispute, even though not well-founded or based on a mistaken assumption can constitute consideration for an accord and satisfaction. *In re Grimm*, 784 P.2d 1238, 1244 (Utah App. 1989). "Where the underlying claim is disputed or uncertain, the obligors assent to the definite statement of performance in the accord amounts to sufficient consideration." *Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson*, 610 P.2d 1369, 1372 (Utah 1980). The Utah Supreme Court has also expressly recognized the "modern trend among courts . . . to uphold such agreements [accords and satisfactions] wherever possible." *Id.* "[C]onsideration is often found in the obligor's agreement to alter the means or method of payment of the obligation initially owed." *Id.* That is precisely what occurred in this case. Here, the parties entered into an accord and satisfaction.

It is undisputed that Defendant and Plaintiff initially agreed that Defendant would pay \$2.75 per share for Plaintiff's shares of Medicode stock. (R. 256, ¶ 4; Add. 42). Plaintiff's undisputed testimony was that the purchase money was to be paid in the first two to three months

of 1990. (R. 490-91, 494, 506-07, 368-69; Add. 58-59, 62, 65-66, 48-49). The money was not paid as agreed. (R. 494, 368-69; Add. 62, 48-49). In May 1991, Plaintiff and Defendant met to wrap up the stock sale. At that meeting, the parties changed the agreed-upon performance. Defendant agreed to pay \$25,000.00 and give Plaintiff 2% of the stock of the company in exchange for Plaintiff's agreement immediately to transfer the 250 thousand plus shares of Medicode stock. Plaintiff performed his part of this executory accord, Defendant has refused to do so.

At the May 1991 meeting, Plaintiff believed that Defendant owed him \$25,000.00 and that Defendant had failed to pay him within the first quarter of 1990 as agreed. Thus, Plaintiff believed in good faith that he had no obligation to turn the stock over to Defendant and maintained that Defendant had no right to immediate possession of the stock. Defendant, however, wanted the stock immediately. (R. 584; Add. 78). Accordingly, he entered into an agreement to pay Plaintiff \$25,000.00 and hold 2% of Medicode stock in trust for Plaintiff. (R. 15, 590; Add. 15, 80). He knew that he could not get the stock unless he agreed to pay \$25,000.00 and hold 2% of the stock. (R. 590; Add. 80). This agreement constitutes an accord and satisfaction, which replaced the parties' original agreement. Notwithstanding the facts, the trial court ruled that no consideration supported the accord and satisfaction because the parties were mutually mistaken with respect to the fact that Defendant still owed Plaintiff money. However, the fact that Plaintiff's belief was wrong does not vitiate the consideration in this case. A compromise of a bona fide dispute, even if not well-founded, constitutes consideration. The district court erred in concluding otherwise.



II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT NO CONSIDERATION SUPPORTED THE SUBSTITUTE AGREEMENT AND THAT THE PARTIES DID NOT ENTER AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION.

The fact that Defendant may not have actually owed Plaintiff money<sup>3</sup> does not mean there was no consideration. "The Supreme Court of Utah has stated in several cases that consideration . . . may consist of a compromise of a *bona fide* dispute which is not necessarily well-founded but is in good faith." *In re Grimm*, 784 P.2d at 1244 (citing *Golden Key Realty, Inc. v. Mantas*, 699 P.2d 730 (Utah 1985); *Sugarhouse*, 610 P.2d at 1372; *Ashton v. Skeen*, 85 Utah 489, 39 P.2d 1073 (1935)). Thus, although a party may be mistaken about his position, when he gives up rights or compromises a bona fide dispute in good faith, consideration exists for the agreement reached in settlement of the dispute.

The decision of the Utah Supreme Court in *Golden Key Realty, Inc.* is instructive. There, the plaintiff real estate broker sued for \$18,000.00 allegedly due in commission from defendant. Defendant claimed that the parties had entered an accord and satisfaction and plaintiff had accepted \$5,000.00. The plaintiff argued that there was no consideration for the accord and satisfaction. The court rejected the argument, declaring "where there is a bona fide dispute as to the amount due, sufficient consideration exists. It is not necessary for the dispute to be well founded, so long as it is in good faith." 699 P.2d at 733; *see also Farmers & Merchants State Bank v. Higgins*, 89 P.2d 916 (Kan. 1939) (the court held that extending time of payments was consideration for giving of a mortgage); *Long v. Forbes*, 136 P.2d 242, 246-47 (Wyo. 1943) ("the

---

<sup>3</sup> Plaintiff vigorously disputes that he was not owed money at the time of the meeting. Plaintiff also disputes that he was overpaid by Defendant. However, these findings of fact are not disputed on appeal.

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