1994

Lan C. England v. Eugene Horbach, an individual, Medicode, Incorporated, a Utah corporation, and Does I through V : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In sections I and II of his Brief, England attacks the trial court's holding that the May 23rd Agreement was unsupported by consideration. England argues that although he had a preexisting duty to convey the stock to Horbach, he sincerely (albeit mistakenly) believed that he did not, and that therefore his agreement to convey the stock constituted consideration. This argument fails for several reasons: (1) It ignores the trial court's alternative holding that the May 23rd Agreement is unenforceable on the basis of mutual mistake; (2) England's consideration argument is raised for the first time on appeal; and

. . . .
Q. Were any statements made about when that payment would be made, and if so, who made the statements?

. . . .
A. I'm having trouble answering this because I'm just trying to give a straightforward answer. It was my recollection and it is my understanding that it was to be paid in two or three months. I don't know how else to answer that.

(R. 490-491).

¹⁰England characterizes his own testimony on this point as "undisputed." (E.g., England's Brief at 10-11). However, as the Utah Supreme Court has held, "[t]he testimony of a party or other interested witness is not conclusive, even if it is not contradicted." Anderson v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 583 P.2d 101, 104 (Utah 1978).

(3) surrender of an utterly baseless claim, even if sincerely believed, does not constitute consideration.

In section III of his Brief, England argues that even if the May 23, 1991 agreement is unsupported by consideration, it may be enforced under the doctrine of promissory estoppel. This argument fails for the following reasons: (1) It too is raised for the first time on appeal; (2) England's performance of a preexisting contractual duty does not constitute detrimental reliance; and (3) Horbach's mistake regarding his payments to England precludes him from being promissorially estopped.

Finally, in section IV of his Brief, England asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in granting Horbach's motion to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence adduced at trial. England's argument fails for the following reasons: (1) England failed to assert any of the bases of this argument before the trial court; and (2) the overpayment issue was tried with England's implied assent, and the trial court therefore had no discretion in allowing an amendment.

ARGUMENT

When the decision of a trial court is reviewed on appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals will "presume [the decision] to be correct and search for grounds upon which [it] may be upheld." Allen v. Prudential Property and Cas. Ins. Co., 839 P.2d 798, 800 (Utah 1992). Therefore, the Court of Appeals will affirm "a trial court's decision whenever [it] can do so on a proper ground, even though it was not the ground on which the trial court relied in its

ruling." Bill Nay & Sons Excavating v. Neeley Constr. Co., 677 P.2d 1120, 1123 (Utah 1984). By contrast, the Court of Appeals will not reverse a trial court based upon "an issue raised for the first time on appeal." Wurst v. Department of Employment Sec., 818 P.2d 1036, 1039 (Utah App. 1991); see also John Deere Co. v. A & H Equip., Inc., 876 P.2d 880, 888 (Utah App. 1994) (appellant who "did not properly raise [an] issue at the trial court below" is "precluded from arguing it on appeal").

England asks this Court to reverse the judgment of the trial court on the basis of three legal arguments. However, England failed to raise any of those arguments before the trial court. Moreover, England's arguments are all legally untenable. The trial court's judgment must therefore be affirmed.

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE MAY 23rd AGREEMENT IS UNENFORCEABLE

The trial court gave two alternative bases for its holding that the May 23rd Agreement is unenforceable. First, because Horbach had already "fully performed his obligations under the 1989 stock purchase agreement" England was "legally obligated to convey his 258,363 shares of Medicode stock to" Horbach, and England's performance of such a "preexisting duty does not provide consideration for a valid contract." (R. 258-259). Second, the May 23rd Agreement was unenforceable because it was executed under the parties' mutually mistaken belief that \$25,000 remained owing under the original stock purchase agreement. (R. 257, 259).

England challenges the first basis of the trial court's judgment--lack of consideration--in sections I and II of his Brief.

However, he simply ignores the second basis of the judgment--mutual mistake. The trial court must therefore be affirmed regardless of whether England's consideration argument might have any merit. Moreover, as discussed below, England's argument is legally fallacious.

A. The Judgment Of The Trial Court Must Be Sustained On The Ground Of The Parties' Mutual Mistake.

As noted above, the trial court's holding regarding the parties' mutual mistake provides an independently sufficient basis for the conclusion that the May 23rd Agreement is unenforceable. Nevertheless, England challenges neither the factual determination that the May 23rd Agreement was entered into on the basis of a mutual mistake,¹¹ nor the legal proposition that such a mistake renders the agreement unenforceable. See Neiderhauser Builders and Dev. Corp. v. Campbell, 824 P.2d 1193, 1198 (Utah App. 1992) (purported accord and satisfaction unenforceable if it was executed under a unilateral or mutual mistake). The judgment of the trial court must therefore be affirmed on the ground of mutual mistake, regardless of England's argument regarding consideration.

B. England Demonstrates No Error In The Trial Court's Judgment That The May 23rd Agreement Is Unsupported By Consideration.

Although England purports to challenge the trial court's judgment that no consideration supported the May 23rd Agreement, he does not dispute the premises of that judgment--that Horbach had already performed all of his contractual duties, and that England

¹¹The evidence introduced at trial not only supports the trial court's finding, but is undisputed on this point. (R. 532).

therefore had a preexisting duty to convey the stock. (R. 258-259).¹² England thus concedes, as he must, that on May 23, 1991 he had no legitimate basis for refusing to convey the stock to Horbach.

Nevertheless, England bases his appeal upon a new legal proposition: that consideration "may consist of a compromise of a *bona fide* dispute which is not necessarily well-founded but is in good faith." (England's Brief at 12 (quoting In re Grimm, 784 P.2d 1238, 1244 (Utah App. 1989)). England attempts to bring himself within this proposition by asserting that he believed that he was entitled to withhold the stock, and although this belief was mistaken, it was nonetheless "*bona fide*." (England's Brief at 11). This argument fails for a number of reasons discussed below.

1. England may not seek to have the trial court reversed with a consideration argument raised for the first time on appeal.

England's present argument--that his sincere but mistaken belief that he was not legally obligated to convey the stock to Horbach makes his agreement to do so sufficient consideration to support the May 23rd Agreement--was never raised before the trial court. The judgment of the trial court may not be reversed on the

¹²England conceded at trial that by May 23, 1991 Horbach had already paid him more than the contractual stock purchase price, (R. 539-540), and he does not dispute this fact on appeal. (England's Brief at 12 n.3). Moreover, although he claims to have believed "that he had no obligation to turn the stock over to" Horbach, he concedes that this "belief was wrong." (England's Brief at 11).

basis of such an argument raised for the first time on appeal. Wurst, 818 P.2d at 1039; John Deere, 876 P.2d at 888.¹³

2. There was no "dispute" at the May 23rd meeting, only a mutual mistake.

Furthermore, the proposition on which England attempts to rely--that the "compromise of a *bona fide* dispute" may provide consideration--is simply inapposite to the facts of this case as proven at trial. No evidence of any "dispute" was ever introduced. Rather, England testified that he told Horbach that \$25,000 remained owing, and Horbach testified that he believed this representation. (R. 517-518, 577). Here there was no "dispute," *bona fide* or otherwise, and England's consideration argument is therefore inapplicable. Instead, there was only a mutual mistake, and as discussed above, this provides an independent basis for the trial court's holding that the May 23rd Agreement was unenforceable.

3. The compromise of a wholly baseless position cannot constitute consideration.

Finally, the proposition upon which England attempts to rely--that the "compromise of a *bona fide* dispute which is not necessarily well-founded" constitutes consideration--is inapplicable to the "compromise" of a position as utterly baseless as was England's. By May 23, 1991, Horbach had already paid England \$855,000, which was \$144,501.75 more than the \$710,498.25

¹³Because this argument was not raised below, the purported sincerity of England's belief was never a material issue at trial, and therefore, was never challenged. This highlights the policy reasons for requiring a party such as England to raise all such arguments before the trial court.

purchase price. (R. 257). Therefore, England's supposed "belief" that he was still owed \$25,000 was completely baseless, and depended upon his continuing failure to simply add up the payments he had received from Horbach.

None of the cases which England cites found an enforceable accord and satisfaction where such a meritless position had been compromised. Rather, in In re Grimm, 784 P.2d 1238 (Utah App. 1989), this Court enforced an accord and satisfaction because it was supported by the compromise of "a legitimate controversy as to what assets" were subject to a trust. 784 P.2d at 1244. Likewise, in Golden Key Realty, Inc. v. Mantas, 699 P.2d 730 (Utah 1985), an accord and satisfaction was enforced because it was supported by the compromise of an apparently meritorious dispute over the quality of the performance of a contract. 699 P.2d at 731, 733.¹⁴

¹⁴Four of the other cases cited by England actually undercut his position. Thus, in Ashton v. Skeen, 39 P.2d 1073, 1077 (Utah 1935), the Utah Supreme Court refused to enforce a purported accord and satisfaction because no valid position had been compromised; the court did not address whether or not the appellant had a good faith belief in that position. In Neiderhauser Builders v. Campbell, 824 P.2d 1193, 1198 (Utah App. 1992), this Court held that "[w]hen there is a unilateral mistake, and a party accepts less than it is entitled to, the theory of accord and satisfaction will not prevent the mistaken party's recovery of the actual, correct amount." Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369, 1372 (Utah 1980), holds that where "the underlying claim is liquidated and certain as to amount, separate consideration must be found to support the accord; otherwise, the obligor binds himself to do nothing he was not already obligated to do, and the obligee's promise to accept a substitute performance is unenforceable." In Safety Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Thurston, 648 P.2d 267, 270 (Kan. App. 1982), the Kansas court held that "[a]ny forbearance to prosecute or defend a claim or action . . . is usually a sufficient consideration for a contract based thereon, unless the claim or defense is obviously invalid, worthless or frivolous." (Emphasis added).

The remainder of England's cases are simply inapposite.

Therefore, these cases stand only for the proposition that a claim need not necessarily be a "winner" in order for the compromise of that claim to provide consideration supporting an accord and satisfaction. They do not support England's argument that consideration can be found in the "compromise" of a completely baseless claim. Rather, as noted in 15A C.J.S. § 11(d) (1967) at 211,

A mere belief on the part of a claimant that he has a claim, without any facts on which such belief may be founded, is not sufficient. . . . Good faith alone . . . has been held insufficient to support a compromise where the claim surrendered is wholly without foundation and not a doubtful one.

Therefore, even if England had raised this argument before the trial court, and even if there had been a "dispute" capable of being compromised, his purported belief that he was still owed \$25,000 was not merely not "well-founded," but was utterly devoid of foundation. England's "compromise" of this belief provides no consideration to support any accord and satisfaction.

For these reasons, the judgment of the trial court that the May 23rd Agreement is unenforceable must be affirmed.

II. THIS COURT MAY NOT REVERSE THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT THAT THE MAY 23RD AGREEMENT IS UNENFORCEABLE ON THE BASIS OF ENGLAND'S PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL ARGUMENT

In section III of his Brief, England argues that even if the May 23rd Agreement is unsupported by consideration, it should nevertheless be enforced under the doctrine of promissory estoppel. This argument fails for several reasons discussed below.

A. England May Not Seek To Have The Trial Court Reversed With A Promissory Estoppel Argument Raised For The First Time On Appeal.

England's promissory estoppel argument was never raised before the trial court, but is asserted for the first time on this appeal. Therefore, he may not ask this Court to reverse the judgment of the trial court on the basis of that argument. Wurst, 818 P.2d at 1039; John Deere, 876 P.2d at 888.

B. England Cannot Demonstrate Any Detrimental Reliance.

England concedes that detrimental reliance is an essential element of promissory estoppel, but argues that this element is satisfied by his agreement to convey the stock to Horbach on May 23, 1991. (England's Brief at 15-16). However, as the trial court concluded, England had a preexisting legal duty to convey the stock to Horbach. (R. 258-259). As a matter of law, the performance of such a preexisting duty cannot constitute detrimental reliance for the sake of a promissory estoppel claim. 80 Nassau Associates v. Crossland Federal Savings Bank, 169 B.R. 832, 842 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1994) ("A party cannot assert estoppel, however, as a result of being 'induced' to do what he is already legally required to do."); In re Marriage of Neiss, 743 P.2d 1022, 1024 (Mont. 1987) (denying promissory estoppel claim where party has not done substantially more than he was already legally obligated to do). Therefore, even if England's promissory estoppel theory were properly before this Court, the judgment of the trial court could not be reversed on that theory.

C. Horbach's Mistaken Belief That He Still Owed England \$25,000 Precludes Promissory Estoppel.

Finally, the case on which England relies for the essential elements of promissory estoppel, Andreason v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 848 P.2d 171 (Utah App. 1993), provides that one of "[t]he factual prerequisites for promissory estoppel" is "that the defendants were aware of all the material facts." 848 P.2d at 175 (quoting Tolboe Constr. v. Staker Paving & Constr. Co., 682 P.2d 843, 845 (Utah 1984)). As the trial court found, on May 23, 1991 Horbach mistakenly believed that he still owed England \$25,000, when in fact he had already overpaid by \$144,501.75. (R. 257). Therefore, Horbach was clearly not "aware of all the material facts," and promissory estoppel is inapplicable.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED HORBACH'S MOTION TO AMEND THE PLEADINGS TO CONFORM TO THE EVIDENCE INTRODUCED AT TRIAL

A. England Made No Objection To Horbach's Rule 15(b) Motion Before The Trial Court, And May Not Do So For The First Time On Appeal.

In his Trial Memorandum, Horbach argued that he was entitled to restitution of his overpayment, and that the pleadings should be amended to include such a counterclaim. (R. 228-230). In his opening statement, Horbach's counsel stated that he intended to prove that England had been overpaid, and that he would ask the trial court to amend the pleadings to include Horbach's claim for the restitution of this overpayment. (R. 452-453). Then, in his motion for a directed verdict at the close of England's case, Horbach's counsel stated that "the only issue left is what is the amount of the overpayment in terms of our ability to get it back

from them." (R. 565). Finally, after the close of evidence, Horbach's counsel made a formal motion to have the pleadings conformed to the evidence. (R. 598). The trial court granted Horbach's motion, and gave him judgment on his counterclaim against England.

In section IV. of his Brief, England argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it granted Horbach's motion to amend. However, at no time during trial did England suggest any opposition to Horbach's motion to amend. Rather, all of England's arguments that granting the motion was unfairly prejudicial are raised for the first time on this appeal.¹⁵ Having failed to oppose England's motion to amend before the trial court, England may not raise this issue on appeal. Wurst, 818 P.2d at 1039; John Deere, 876 P.2d at 888.

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